Unofficial translation of Minutes of the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Qliro Group AB (publ), reg. no 556035-6940, 7 May 2019 at Hovslagargatan 3 in Stockholm.

Time: 10.00 a.m.-11.05 a.m.

Present:Shareholders and proxy holders, Appendix 1, stating the number of shares and
votes, and other attendees, Appendix 2.

Furthermore, noted as present were Nomination Committee member Thomas Krishan, Board members Christoffer Häggblom (also Chairman of the Board), Lennart Jacobsen, Daniel Mytnik, Erika Söderberg Johnson and Jessica Pedroni Thorell, the Chief Executive Officer Marcus Lindqvist, the Chief Financial Officer Mathias Pedersen and the auditor-in-charge Mårten Asplund.

§ 1

Opening of the Annual General Meeting (agenda item 1)

Christoffer Häggblom opened the Annual General Meeting and welcomed the shareholders as well as gave his remarks on the development and business of Qliro Group.

§ 2

Election of Chairman of the Annual General Meeting (agenda item 2)

The Meeting elected Wilhelm Lüning, member of the Swedish Bar Association, as Chairman of the Meeting, in accordance with the Nomination Committee's proposal.

The Chairman informed that Anatoliy Sakhatskiy had been appointed to act as minutes keeper at the Annual General Meeting, that an audio recording for internal use was made in order to facilitate the preparation of the minutes and that other audio or video recording was not permitted.

The Meeting resolved that shareholders who had not given notice to attend, invited guests and other persons who were not shareholders were entitled to attend the Meeting, but were not entitled to address the Meeting or participate in the Meeting's resolutions.

§ 3

Preparation and approval of the voting list (agenda item 3)

The Meeting approved the procedure for drawing up the voting list and that the list of shareholders who had given notice to attend and were present at the Meeting, <u>Appendix 1</u>, should be the voting list at the Meeting.

§ 4

Approval of the agenda (agenda item 4)

The Meeting approved the proposed agenda of the Meeting, <u>Appendix 3</u>, which had been included in the notice to attend the Meeting.

The Chairman informed that the complete proposals of the Board and the Nomination Committee had been included in the notice.

The Annual Report, the Group Annual Report, the Auditor's Report and the Group Auditor's Report for the financial year 2018 as well as statements and reports of the Board and the Nomination Committee, and also the other documents to the Annual General Meeting, which had been held available in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act and the Swedish Corporate Governance Code, were presented.

§ 5

Election of one or two persons to check and verify the minutes (agenda item 5)

The Meeting elected Carl Rydin, representing Origo Quest, and Philip Berglöf, representing Rite Ventures, to check and verify the minutes jointly with the Chairman of the Meeting.

§ 6

Determination of whether the Annual General Meeting had been duly convened (agenda item 6)

The Chairman found that notice had been made in accordance with the Swedish Companies Act and the provisions in the Articles of Association and that the Meeting therefore had been duly convened.

The Meeting resolved to approve the notice procedure and declared the Meeting duly convened.

§ 7

Remarks by the Chairman of the Board (agenda item 7)

Christoffer Häggblom gave his remarks on the work of the Board during the year and commented on the Board's proposals to the Meeting.

§ 8

Presentation by the Chief Executive Officer (agenda item 8)

Marcus Lindqvist presented the business, development, work with sustainability and results of Qliro Group and the group's three business areas CDON Marketplace, Nelly and Qliro Financial Services during 2018 and during the first quarter 2019 as well as the focus areas in 2019.

§ 9

<u>Presentation of the Annual Report, the Auditors' Report and the consolidated financial statements</u> and the Auditors' Report on the consolidated financial statements (agenda item 9)

The Chairman found that the Annual Report of the parent company and the Group in respect of the financial year 2018, had been presented.

Auditor-in-charge Mårten Asplund, KPMG, reported on the audit work and thereafter commented on the Auditor's Report in respect of the parent company and the Group for the financial year 2018.

After the Chairman had opened for questions, the shareholders asked questions and gave their remarks on, among other things, Board members shareholdings, order for decision making in the Group and Board remuneration in the parent company and the subsidiaries. The questions were answered by Christoffer Häggblom.

<u>Resolution on the adoption of the income statement and the balance sheet and of the consolidated</u> <u>income statement and the consolidated balance sheet (agenda item 10)</u>

The Meeting adopted the income statements for 2018 and balance sheets per 31 December 2018 for the parent company and the Group.

§ 11

<u>Resolution on the proposed treatment of the company's result as stated in the adopted balance sheet</u> (agenda item 11)

The Chairman presented the principal contents of the Board's proposal regarding distribution of profits pursuant to the Annual Report.

The Meeting resolved that the share premium reserve, retained earnings and the result for the year should be carried forward.

§ 12

<u>Resolution on the discharge of liability of the members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer</u> (agenda item 12)

The Meeting discharged the Board and the Chief Executive Officer of liability for the management of the company and its affairs during the financial year 2018.

It was noted that the members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer did not take part in the resolution, concerning themselves, and it was recorded that all shareholders participating in the resolution supported the resolution.

§ 13

Determination of the number of members of the Board (agenda item 13)

Thomas Krishan, member of the Nomination Committee, presented the Nomination Committee's proposal.

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the Nomination Committee's proposal that, for the period until the close of the next Annual General Meeting, the Board shall consist of six members.

§ 14

Determination of the remuneration to the members of the Board and the auditor (agenda item 14)

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the Nomination Committee's proposals regarding remuneration to the Board and the auditor which was to be allocated in accordance with the following:

- SEK 670,000 shall be allocated to the Chairman of the Board,
- SEK 325,000 shall be allocated to each of the other five members of the Board,
- SEK 150,000 shall be allocated to the Chairman and SEK 75,000 shall be allocated to each of the other two members of the Audit Committee,
- SEK 75,000 shall be allocated to the Chairman and SEK 38,000 shall be allocated to each of the other two members of the Remuneration Committee,
- SEK 75,000 shall be allocated to each of the two members appointed to the Consolidated Situation Committee by Qliro Group, and

• SEK 75,000 shall be allocated for work by each of the two members of Qliro Group's Board who have served on the Consolidated Situation Committee up until the 2019 AGM.

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the Nomination Committee's proposal that remuneration to the auditor was to be paid in accordance with approved invoices.

§ 15

Election of Board members (agenda items 15(a)-(f))

The Chairman informed the Meeting of the assignments the proposed members of the Board held in other companies.

The Meeting voted on election of each one of the proposed Board members under items 15(a)-(f) and resolved in accordance with the proposal of the Nomination Committee to re-elect the Board members Andreas Bernström, Christoffer Häggblom, Lennart Jacobsen, Daniel Mytnik, Jessica Pedroni Thorell and Erika Söderberg Johnson.

§ 16

Election of Chairman of the Board (agenda item 16)

The Meeting re-elected Christoffer Häggblom as Chairman of the Board in accordance with the proposal from the Nomination Committee.

§ 17

Determination of the number of Auditors and election of Auditor (agenda item 17)

The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the proposal from the Nomination Committee, that the company shall have a registered accounting firm as auditor and to re-elect the registered accounting firm KPMG as the company's auditor for the period until the close of the 2020 Annual General Meeting.

The Chairman noted that KPMG had informed that Mårten Asplund will continue as auditor-in-charge.

§ 18

Resolution regarding guidelines for remuneration to senior executives (agenda item 18)

The Chairman presented the main contents of the Board's proposal on guidelines for remuneration for senior executives.

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the Board's proposal, <u>Appendix 4</u>, regarding guidelines for remuneration to senior executives.

§ 19

<u>Resolution regarding adoption of a performance share plan for senior executives and other key persons</u> in Qliro Group (agenda item 19)

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Daniel Mytnik, presented the Board's proposal to resolve on a performance share plan and a synthetic call option plan.

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the Board's proposal, <u>Appendix 5</u>, to adopt a performance share plan for senior executives and key persons in Qliro Group.

<u>Resolution regarding adoption of a synthetic call option plan for the CEO, management and key</u> <u>employees in Qliro Financial Services (agenda item 20)</u>

The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board's proposal, <u>Appendix 6</u>, to adopt a synthetic call option plan for the CEO, management and key employees in Qliro Financial Services.

§ 21

<u>Resolutions regarding transfer of own ordinary shares for delivery under the long-term incentive plans</u> in items 19 and 20 (agenda item 21)

The Chairman presented the main contents of the Board's proposal regarding transfer of own ordinary for delivery under the long-term incentive plans under agenda items 19 and 20.

The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board's proposal in <u>Appendix 7</u>, to approve transfer of own ordinary for delivery under the incentive plans under agenda items 19 and 20.

It was noted that all shareholders participating in the vote supported the resolution.

§ 22

<u>Resolution regarding reduction of the share capital comprising resolutions to: (a) amend the articles</u> of association in order to allow reduction of the share capital, and (b) reduce the share capital (agenda items 22(a)-(b))

The Chairman presented the main contents of the Board's proposal on amending the articles of association in order to allow reduction of the share capital and resolution to reduce the share capital.

The Meeting resolved in accordance with the proposal, <u>Appendix 8</u>, to amend the articles of association in order to allow reduction of the share capital and to reduce the share capital.

It was noted that all shareholders participating in the Meeting supported the resolution and that the execution of the Annual General Meeting's resolution regarding reduction of the share capital is conditional upon the approval of the Swedish Companies Registration Office, or general court in the case of dispute, and the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority.

The articles of association in its new wording is included in <u>Appendix 9</u>.

§ 23

Closing of the Annual General Meeting (agenda item 23)

Since there were no items left on the agenda, The Chairman declared the Annual General Meeting closed.

At the minutes: Anatoliy Sakhatskiy

Minutes checkers: Wilhelm Lüning Carl Rydin Philip Berglöf

PROPOSED AGENDA

- 1. Opening of the Annual General Meeting.
- 2. Election of Chairman of the Annual General Meeting.
- 3. Preparation and approval of the voting list.
- 4. Approval of the agenda.
- 5. Election of one or two persons to check and verify the minutes.
- 6. Determination of whether the Annual General Meeting has been duly convened.
- 7. Remarks by the Chairman of the Board.
- 8. Presentation by the Chief Executive Officer.
- 9. Presentation of the Annual Report, the Auditors' Report and the consolidated financial statements and the Auditors' Report on the consolidated financial statements.
- 10. Resolution on the adoption of the income statement and the balance sheet and of the consolidated income statement and the consolidated balance sheet.
- 11. Resolution on the proposed treatment of the company's result as stated in the adopted balance sheet.
- 12. Resolution on the discharge of liability of the members of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.
- 13. Determination of the number of members of the Board.
- 14. Determination of the remuneration to the members of the Board and the Auditor.
- 15. Election of Board members:
 - (a) Andreas Bernström (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
 - (b) Christoffer Häggblom (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
 - (c) Lennart Jacobsen (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
 - (d) Daniel Mytnik (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
 - (e) Jessica Pedroni Thorell (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
 - (f) Erika Söderberg Johnson (re-election, proposed by the Nomination Committee).
- 16. Election of Chairman of the Board.
- 17. Determination of the number of Auditors and election of Auditor.
- 18. Resolution regarding guidelines for remuneration to senior executives.
- 19. Resolution regarding adoption of a performance share plan for senior executives and other key persons in Qliro Group (PSP 2019).
- 20. Resolution regarding adoption of a synthetic call option plan for the CEO, management and key employees in Qliro Financial Services (QOP 2019).
- 21. Resolutions regarding transfer of own ordinary shares for delivery under the long-term incentive plans in items 19 and 20.
- 22. Resolution regarding reduction of the share capital comprising resolutions to:
 - (a) amend the articles of association in order to allow reduction of the share capital, and
 - (b) reduce the share capital.
- 23. Closing of the Annual General Meeting.

Guidelines for remuneration to senior executives (item 18)

The Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves on the following guidelines for determining remuneration of senior executives in Qliro Group and Board members of the parent company, to the extent to which they are remunerated outside their directorship.

Remuneration guidelines

Qliro Group shall strive to offer a total remuneration which will enable the group to attract, motivate and retain senior executives in competition with Qliro Group's international peers, which primarily are Nordic companies operating within e-commerce and retailing with consumer brands and products, as well as Nordic credit market companies specialized in online-payment solutions, digital consumer financing, personal loans and savings accounts.

The remuneration to the senior executives in Qliro Group shall both short-term and long-term reflect the individual's performance and responsibility and the results in Qliro Group, inclusive of its subsidiaries, and shall also be designed so that it aligns the senior executives' interests and rewards with the shareholders'. Therefore, the remuneration to the senior executives shall be based on the pay for performance principle and encourage them to build up a significant private ownership of Qliro Group shares (in relation to their personal financial conditions).

The remuneration to the senior executives shall consist of:

- fixed salary,
- short-term variable remuneration paid in cash,
- the possibility of participation in long-term incentive plans, and
- pension and other customary benefits.

Fixed salary

The senior executives' fixed salary is revised each year and shall be competitive and based on the individual's competence, responsibilities and performance.

Variable remuneration

The senior executives' short-term variable remuneration paid in cash shall be based on fulfilment of established targets for their areas of responsibility and for Qliro Group and its subsidiaries, respectively. The outcome shall be linked to measurable targets (qualitative, quantitative, general and individual). The targets within the senior executives' respective area of responsibility are defined to promote Qliro Group's development both in the short and long-term. The maximum payment of cash based variable remuneration may not exceed a maximum of 100 per cent of the senior executive's annual fixed salary. The Board may resolve that part of the senior executives' variable remuneration paid in cash shall be invested in shares or share-related instruments in Qliro Group.

Long-term incentive plans shall include an own investment, and be linked to certain pre-determined value creation and/or share or share-price related performance criteria. The long-term incentive

plans shall be designed to ensure a long-term commitment to the value growth of Qliro Group and/or its subsidiaries, and align the senior executives' interests and rewards with the shareholders' by generally awarding the participants share-based remuneration.

Pension and other customary benefits

Pension commitments will be secured through premiums paid to insurance companies. Under normal circumstances the retirement age is 65 years.

Other benefits shall be customary and facilitate that the senior executives can carry out their duties, for example a company car, company health care and health care insurance.

Notice of termination and severance pay

The maximum notice period in any senior executive's contract is generally twelve months, and in exceptional cases, eighteen months, during which time salary payment will continue.

Compensation to Board members

Board members, elected at General Meetings, may in certain cases receive a fee for services performed within their respective areas of expertise, outside of their Board duties. Compensation for these services shall be paid at market terms and be approved by the Board.

Remuneration to senior executives covered by the remuneration rules for credit market companies

For senior executives covered by the remuneration rules for credit market companies, special remuneration rules apply pursuant to laws and regulations issued by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority. The boards of Qliro Group AB (publ) and QFS have established a remuneration policy that covers all employees in each respective company (including the CEO and the CFO in the parent company Qliro Group AB (publ)) and, *on the one hand*, is compatible with and promotes sound and efficient risk management and, *on the other hand*, counteracts excessive risk taking. In addition to the guidelines set out above, the following guidelines will mainly be applied in relation to remuneration for senior executives covered by the remuneration rules:

- Qliro Group AB (publ) and QFS will conduct an analysis annually to identify employees whose duties have a significant impact on the company's risk profile based on a number of different criteria.
- The performance assessment shall, in case of variable remuneration, be set in a multi-year framework in order to ensure that the assessment process is based on long-term, sustainable results and that the underlying business cycle and business risks are taken into account when paying performance based remuneration.
- The variable remuneration shall be based on the employee's performance and the overall performance of both the business unit and the company. Both financial and non-financial criteria shall be taken into account in the assessment of the employee's performance.

- At least 40-60 per cent of the variable remuneration shall be deferred at least three to five years before it is paid or the right of ownership passes to the employee.
- Variable remuneration shall only be paid or passed to the employee to an extent justifiable by the company's financial situation and justified based on the performance of the company, the business unit and the employee. The deferred portion of the remuneration may be cancelled in full for these reasons.

Deviations from the guidelines

The Board may, if it considers that special circumstances are at hand, deviate from the guidelines. In such a case the Board shall explain the reason for the deviation at the following Annual General Meeting.

The current guidelines for remuneration of senior executives in Qliro Group are described in the Corporate Governance Report in Qliro Group's Annual Report 2018. For further information on remuneration of the CEO and senior executives as well as outstanding incentive plans, see Note 24 in the Annual Report 2018.

Adoption of a performance share plan for senior executives and other key persons in Qliro Group (PSP 2019) (item 19)

Proposal

The Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves to adopt a long-term performance share plan (the "**PSP 2019**") for senior executives and other key persons in the parent company and/or within group central support functions and in Qliro Group's subsidiaries/business units CDON and Nelly. PSP 2019 has a similar structure as the long-term incentive plans adopted by the Annual General Meetings in 2011-2018. As in the previous long-term incentive plan adopted by the 2018 Annual General Meeting, the terms of PSP 2019 in relation to the CEO and CFO in the parent company Qliro Group AB (publ) are adjusted to the remuneration rules applicable in relation to the credit market companies pursuant to laws and regulations issued by the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority and that are applicable in relation to Qliro Group AB (publ) and QFS forming a so called consolidated situation.

The motives for the proposal

The objective of the proposed PSP 2019 is to create conditions to recruit and retain high performing employees in the Group.

PSP 2019 has been designed based on the view that it is desirable that senior executives and other key employees within Qliro Group are shareholders. Against this background, the Board is of the opinion that the adoption of PSP 2019 will have a positive effect on Qliro Group's future development and thus be beneficial for both Qliro Group and its shareholders.

Participants

In total, PSP 2019 is proposed to include around 22 senior executives and other key employees in the Qliro Group.

General terms

Subject to fulfilment of certain retention and performance based conditions during the period 1 April 2019 – 31 March 2022 (the "**Measurement Period**"), each share right will entitle the participant to receive one ordinary share free of charge in the company. The right to finally be awarded shares is also dependant on the participant retaining the Saving Shares (as defined below), and, with certain exceptions, continued his/her employment in Qliro Group during the full vesting period ending at the release of the interim report for the period January – March 2022.

In addition, the share rights shall be governed by the following terms:

- Allotted free of charge after the Annual General Meeting 2019.
- May not be transferred or pledged.
- In order to align the shareholders' and the participants' interests, the company will compensate for the dividends paid by increasing the number of shares that each share right entitles to.
- Shares are allotted following the release of Qliro Group's interim report for the period January March 2022.

Personal investment and allocation

In order to participate in PSP 2019, the employees must make a personal investment in Qliro Group shares ("**Saving Shares**"). The Saving Shares can either be Qliro Group shares already held by the participant, which are not allocated to ongoing incentive plans, or shares purchased on the market in connection with the notification to participate in PSP 2019. If the employee has inside information which prevents purchasing Qliro Group shares in connection with the notification to participate in PSP 2019, Saving Shares shall be purchased as soon as possible, but prior to the next Annual General Meeting.

PSP 2019 is proposed to comprise up to 243,000 Saving Shares entitling to allotment of up to 1,581,000 rights, whereof 243,000 retention rights and 1,338,000 performance rights in total. PSP 2019 will, in principle, comprise up to the following number of Saving Shares and rights for the different categories of participants:

- the CEO of the parent company can allocate up to 50,000 Saving Shares. Each Saving Share entitles the CEO to receive 1 retention right of Series A and 4 performance rights of Series B. In total 5 rights for each Saving Share;
- the CFO of the parent company can allocate up to 35,000 Saving Shares. Each Saving Share entitles the CFO to receive 1 retention right of Series A and 4 performance rights of Series B. In total 5 rights for each Saving Share;
- category 2: the CEOs in CDON and Nelly can each allocate up to 25,000 Saving Shares. Each Saving Share entitles these employees to receive 1 retention right of Series A and 7 performance rights of Series B. In total 8 rights for each Saving Share; and
- category 3: approximately 18 employees in CDON, Nelly and in group central support functions can each allocate up to 6,000 Saving Shares. Each Saving Share entitles these employees to receive 1 retention right of Series A and 6 performance rights of Series B. In total 7 rights for each Saving Share.

Performance conditions

The rights are divided into Series A (retention rights) and Series B (performance rights). The number of shares that the participant will be allotted under the rights depends both on which category the participant belongs to (see above), and on the fulfilment of the following defined retention and performance based conditions:

- *Series A* The total shareholder return (TSR) of Qliro Group's ordinary share during the Measurement Period exceeding 0 per cent as entry level.
- Series B The annual average total shareholder return (TSR) of Qliro Group's ordinary share during the Measurement Period larger than or equal to 10 per cent as entry level and larger than or equal to 20 per cent or more as the stretch target.

For Series A, all rights (100 per cent) will vest if the entry level is reached.

For Series B, 20 per cent of the rights will vest if the entry level is reached, all rights (100 per cent) will vest if the stretch target is reached, and linear interpolation will be applied between entry level and stretch target as regards the number of rights that vests.

If the entry level is not reached in a series, all rights in that series lapse.

The Board intends to disclose the outcome of PSP 2019 in the Annual Report 2022.

Specific terms applicable in relation to the CEO and CFO in Qliro Group AB (pub)

Qliro Group AB (publ) and QFS form a so called consolidated situation. The CEO and the CFO in Qliro Group AB (publ) are assessed to be employees who are identified as having an impact on the risk profile of QFS (identified staff). Therefore, the remuneration rules applicable in relation to the credit market company QFS shall also be applied in relation to the CEO and the CFO in Qliro Group AB (publ). The following main specific terms for PSP 2019 shall therefore be applied in relation to the CEO and the CFO, given that Qliro Group AB (publ) and QFS still form a consolidated situation:

- The compensation that the CEO and the CFO may receive through PSP 2019 must not exceed the fixed remuneration and other benefits that the CEO and the CFO will obtain for 2021.
- The CEO and the CFO will during the Measurement Period not be compensated for any dividends paid by increasing the number of shares that each share right entitles to. To the extent permitted under applicable law, compensation will be paid out for dividends on the shares awarded to the CEO and the CFO during the deferral period (see further below).
- The CEO and the CFO shall during the Measurement Period fulfil certain conditions in addition to the retention and performance based conditions that shall be fulfilled in order to receive shares based on the rights. These conditions consist of different quantitative and qualitative performance conditions (financial and non-financial) in relation to the CEO, the CFO and Qliro Group. The performance conditions shall not promote excessive risk taking and shall include for instance risk-adjusted performance by the CEO, the CFO and economic efficiency measures in relation to Qliro Group. The assessment of to what extent the performance conditions have been met shall be made by the Board or anyone appointed by the Board.
- 60 per cent of the shares that may be transferred to the CEO and the CFO in PSP 2019 will be subject to deferral for a time period of three years. Qliro Group will transfer shares that are subject to deferral once a year evenly distributed over the period of time that the remuneration was deferred (*pro rata*).
- The transfer of shares pursuant to PSP 2019 to the CEO and the CFO are subject to that the performance conditions pursuant to the above have been fulfilled. In addition, a transfer of the shares shall also justifiable based on Qliro Group's financial situation and the performance of Qliro Group and the employee.

Preparation and administration

PSP 2019 has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee together with external advisors and adopted by the Board.

The Board, or the Remuneration Committee, shall be responsible for preparing the detailed terms and conditions of PSP 2019, in accordance with the mentioned terms and guidelines. To this end, the Board shall be entitled to make adjustments to meet market conditions and to comply with applicable regulations, such as the regulations regarding remuneration for credit market companies, and related groups. The Board shall also be entitled to make other adjustments, including e.g. a right to resolve on a reduced allotment of shares, if material changes would occur within the Qliro Group, or on the market that, according to the Board's assessment, would lead to that the resolved terms and conditions for allotment of shares under PSP 2019 no longer fulfil the main objectives. This also includes the possibility to resolve that participants employed by the subsidiaries CDON or Nelly, instead of Qliro Group shares, shall be awarded shares in the subsidiary in which they are employed, subject to that the relevant subsidiary has made a request for admission to trading on a regulated market or an MTF during the vesting period. This is also subject to that the relevant subsidiary resolves on such transfer.

New members of the senior management team and/or other key employees that have not yet

commenced their employment at the time when notification to participate in PSP 2019 at the latest shall be given, may, upon the condition that the employment commences during 2019, be offered to participate in PSP 2019, if the Board deems it to be in line with the motives for adopting PSP 2019.

PSP 2019; scope and costs

PSP 2019 will be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2 which stipulates that the rights shall be recorded as a personnel expense in the income statement during the vesting period. Based on the assumptions that the share price is SEK 11.36 (the closing share price for the Qliro Group share on 18 March 2019) at the time of allocation, a maximum participation, an annual employee turnover of 10 per cent and an average fulfilment of the performance conditions of 100 per cent in relation to Series A and 50 per cent in relation to Series B, the total cost, exclusive of social security costs, for PSP 2019 is estimated to approximately SEK 5.2 million. The cost will be allocated over the years 2019 – 2022.

Social security costs will also be recorded as a personnel expense in the income statement by current reservations. The social security costs are estimated to be around SEK 3.6 million with the assumptions above, an average social security tax rate of 31.42 per cent and an annual share price increase of 15 per cent on the Qliro Group share during the vesting period.

Recalculation of final allotments of the number of shares to the participants shall take place in the event of an intervening bonus issue, reversed split, split, rights issue and/or other similar events.

The maximum profit (cap) for each right is:

- CEO in the parent company: SEK 22.11.
- CFO in the parent company: SEK 22.04.
- Category 2: SEK 21.00.
- Category 3: SEK 42.86.

If the value of Qliro Group's share at vesting exceeds the participant's cap the number of shares each right entitles the participant to receive will be reduced accordingly.

The maximum dilution is 1.06 per cent in terms of shares and votes outstanding and 0.42 per cent in terms of the estimated cost for PSP 2019 as defined in IFRS 2 in relation to Qliro Group's market capitalisation. The estimated dilution does not consider shares that potentially can be used as a buffer for compensation to participants for dividends made to shareholders in Qliro Group.

Assuming that the maximum profit per right is achieved, all the participants' allocated shares remain and a 100 per cent fulfilment of the performance conditions, the maximum cost for PSP 2019 is approximately SEK 7.1 million in accordance with IFRS 2 and the maximum cost for social charges approximately SEK 15.8 million.

Effect on certain key ratios

The costs and dilution are expected to have marginal effect on key ratios of the Qliro Group.

The annual cost of PSP 2019 including social charges is estimated to be approximately SEK 2.9 million based on the above assumptions. This cost can be compared to the company's total personnel costs, including social charges, of SEK 474.8 million in 2018.

Hedging and delivery of shares under PSP 2019

The Board has considered two alternatives for delivering Qliro Group shares to the participants, subject to the terms and conditions of PSP 2019; either Qliro Group (i) transfers ordinary shares held by the company itself to participants, free of charge, or (ii) enters into an agreement with a bank that will be able to, in its own name, acquire and transfer Qliro Group shares. The Board considers the first alternative as its preferred option. However, should the Annual General Meeting not approve the proposed transfer of own ordinary shares in accordance with the proposal in item 21, the Board may enter into a hedging arrangement with a third party to hedge the obligations of Qliro Group to deliver shares under PSP 2019.

No hedging arrangements have been made in case delivery of shares to the participants is made through transfer of shares in CDON or in Nelly to participants employed by any of the subsidiaries. As stated above, this is subject to that the relevant subsidiary has made a request for admission to trading on a regulated market or an MTF during the vesting period.

Regardless of method of delivery, the costs of PSP 2019 will be charged to the income statement during the vesting period.

Adoption of a synthetic call option plan for the CEO and the management and key employees in Qliro Financial Services (QOP 2019) (item 20)

Proposal

The Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves to adopt a synthetic call option plan for the CEO and the management and other key persons in Qliro Group's subsidiary that operates financial services, QFS, based on the value growth in QFS ("**QOP 2019**").

The motives for the proposal

QOP 2019 is expected to lead to greater commitment and increased motivation for the participants in QOP 2019 by offering them to make an own investment, on market terms, in synthetic call options directly linked to the long-term value-growth of QFS. The Board of Qliro Group considers that QOP 2019 will increase the shareholder value and benefit the opportunities to recruit, motivate and retain talented employees working in Qliro Group and QFS.

QOP 2019; structure, participation and settlement

The CEO and the management and other key persons (in total around 16 persons) working in QFS will be invited to participate in QOP 2019.

The value of the issued synthetic call options in QOP 2019 corresponds to approximately 0.21 per cent of the value of QFS. The value of QFS will be determined through a valuation at launch (after the Annual General Meeting 2019) and at close (three years following launch or at Qliro Group's potential divestment of QFS) by an independent valuation institute, applying recognized valuation methodologies.

Settlement of the amount that the synthetic call option holders have the right to receive, subject to the terms and conditions of QOP 2019, is proposed, primarily, to be made in Qliro Group ordinary shares. The Board has considered two alternatives for delivering Qliro Group shares to the participants; either Qliro Group (i) transfers ordinary shares held by the company itself to participants or (ii) enters into an agreement with a bank that will be able to, in its own name, acquire and transfer Qliro Group shares. The Board considers the first alternative as its preferred option. However, should the Annual General Meeting not approve the transfer of own ordinary shares in accordance with the proposal in item 21, the Board may enter into a hedging arrangement with a third party to hedge the obligations of Qliro Group to deliver shares under QOP 2019, as set out in the agreement between Qliro Group and the employee, or cash settle the synthetic call options in accordance with QOP 2019. Subject to that QFS prior to the Closing Date (as defined below) has made a request for admission to trading on a regulated market or an MTF, payment of the amount that the option holders are entitled to may also be made in QFS shares. This is also subject to that general meeting of QFS resolves to transfer own shares to the participants. No hedging arrangements have been made in case delivery of shares to the participants is made through transfer of shares in QFS.

Main conditions for the synthetic call options

In order to be able to carry out QOP 2019, the Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves on the following main conditions.

The participants in QOP 2019 shall give notice of their participation and acquire synthetic call options, at market value, following the 2019 Annual General Meeting (the "Entry Date"). The market value will

be calculated by an independent valuation institute, applying a standard accepted valuation model (Black-Scholes).

Allocation of synthetic call options will be made by the Board, or the Remuneration Committee, in accordance with the principles adopted by the 2019 Annual General Meeting and will be based on the employees' competence, area of responsibility and the investee category in which the employee belongs. The employees are expected to, in total, invest a maximum of approximately SEK 2.2 million in QOP 2019. Each participant can acquire synthetic call options for an amount that corresponds to a maximum of between approximately 3-14 per cent of the total investment in the QOP 2019 (depending on QOP 2019 investee category).

The issue of synthetic call options will take place by entering into an agreement between Qliro Group and the employee, principally on the following terms:

- The synthetic call options may be exercised three years after they were issued and also in case Qliro Group realises its holding in QFS through a sale of more than 50 per cent of the shares or a listing of the company (the "Closing Date").
- One (1) synthetic call option shall give the holder the right to receive, from Qliro Group, an amount calculated on the basis of the value growth in QFS, subject to the condition that the determined value of QFS at the Closing Date corresponds to at least an average annual growth of 15 per cent of the determined value at the Entry Date (the exercise price).
- Payment to the participants of said amount will, in accordance with the detailed terms and conditions of the synthetic call options, with certain exceptions, be made by Qliro Group transferring own ordinary shares to the participants, or, if QFS prior to the Closing Date has made a request for trading on a regulated market or MTF, in QFS shares. The number of ordinary shares that will be transferred to the participants will be based on a calculated share price for the Qliro Group ordinary share (calculated as the average for each trading day calculated average volume-weighted price paid for Qliro Group's ordinary shares on Nasdaq Stockholm during 10 trading days from and including the first trading day after Qliro Group publishes its first interim report after the Closing Date).
- The synthetic call options that may be issued under QOP 2019 shall be freely transferrable but with certain restrictions related to timing of any disposals of the synthetic call options. In addition, Qliro Group shall be entitled to acquire the synthetic call options at market value calculated in accordance with Black-Scholes.
- QOP 2019 will not change the number of shares in QFS.

The Board intends to disclose the outcome of QOP 2019 no later than in the Annual Report 2022.

Scope and costs of QOP 2019

The synthetic call options will be transferred to the participants at market price. Accordingly, there will be no initial costs for Qliro Group for QOP 2019.

The future costs or revenues for Qliro Group attributable to issued synthetic call options in QOP 2019 will depend on the value growth of QFS. If the value of QFS at the Closing Date is less than the prevailing exercise price at the time, the synthetic call options will be worthless and the paid option premiums will become revenue for Qliro Group. If the value of QFS at the Closing Date exceeds the prevailing exercise price at the time, the synthetic call options will have a value. The total value of the issued synthetic call options in QOP 2019 at the Closing Date is estimated to amount to up to SEK 69.4 million. The total awarded amount (to the QOP 2019 participants) is however subject to that the value of QFS

at the Closing Date is capped to three (3) times of the value at the Entry Date.

The administrative costs for hedging delivery of Qliro Group ordinary shares amounting to the difference between the determined value for QFS at the Closing Date and the prevailing exercise price at the time, with deduction of the option premiums paid by the participants, will be the total cost for Qliro Group. Settlement in relation to the synthetic option holders will be made during 2022, or at Qliro Group's exit in QFS. The maximum dilution for settlement of QOP 2019 is 1.34 per cent in terms of shares and votes outstanding in Qliro Group, based on a proportionate value growth for Qliro Group and QFS during the term of the synthetic call options.

Preparation and administration of QOP 2019 and the detailed terms and conditions for the synthetic call options

QOP 2019 has been prepared by the Remuneration Committee together with external advisors and adopted by the Board.

The Board, or the Remuneration Committee, shall resolve upon the persons to be invited to acquire synthetic call options as well as the detailed terms of the option agreements to subsequently be entered into with the participants. Further, the Board, or the Remuneration Committee, will be responsible for the detailed design and management of QOP 2019 within the framework of the main terms and guidelines as resolved by the 2019 Annual General Meeting.

Transfer of own ordinary shares for delivery under the long-term incentive plans in items 19 and 20 (item 21)

The Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves that a maximum of 3,621,000 ordinary shares held by Qliro Group may be transferred to participants in accordance with the terms of PSP 2019 and QOP 2019, whereof 1,581,000 ordinary shares may be transferred to the participants in PSP 2019 and 2,040,000 ordinary shares may be transferred to the participants in QOP 2019.

The participants' right to receive ordinary shares requires compliance with the terms of PSP 2019 and QOP 2019 and the shares shall be transferred during the period of time that follows from the terms of PSP 2019 and QOP 2019 respectively. The shares shall be transferred free of charge.

The number of shares that may be transferred to the participants under PSP 2019 and QOP 2019 shall be subject to recalculation in the event of an intervening bonus issue, reversed split, split, rights issue and/or other similar events.

A transfer of shares in the subsidiaries QFS, CDON and Nelly to the participants, in accordance with the terms and conditions in PSP 2019 and QOP 2019, shall be resolved by the general meeting in the relevant subsidiary, respectively. Subject to valid resolutions in any of the named subsidiaries, the Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting approve that such transfers are made.

As set out above under items 19 and 20, PSP 2019 and QOP 2019 may as an alternative be hedged by Qliro Group entering into an agreement with a bank that will be able to, in its own name, acquire and transfer Qliro Group shares to the participants in PSP 2019 and QOP 2019. Furthermore, in certain cases participants in QOP 2019 may be offered cash-settlement instead of Qliro Group shares. However, the Board recommends that PSP 2019 and QOP 2019 are settled by Qliro Group transferring its own ordinary shares to the participants in accordance with this item 21.

Amendment to the articles of association in order to allow reduction of the share capital (item 22(a)) and resolution to reduce the share capital (item 22(b))

The Board proposes that the Annual General Meeting resolves on reducing the share capital in order to achieve an appropriate capital structure in the company and to facilitate for the board in Qliro Group to contribute in increasing the shareholder value.

In order to adjust the limits for the share capital as set out in the articles of association to the proposed reduction of the share capital, the Board proposes that the current provision regarding the limits for the share capital in the articles of association are amended as follows:

Current wording

Proposed wording

§ 4

The Company's share capital shall be not less than SEK 200,000,000 and not more than SEK 800,000,000 The Company's share capital shall be not less than SEK *100,000,000* and not more than SEK *400,000,000*

The Board proposes that Qliro Group's share capital, which currently amounts to SEK 309,989,588, is reduced with a total amount of SEK 154,994,779. The purpose of reducing the share capital is that the amount with which the share capital is reduced shall be allocated to an accounting reserve to be used in accordance with a resolution by the upcoming General Meeting. The reduction applies to all shares in the company (i.e. both ordinary shares and C shares) and shall be carried out without cancellation of shares and thereby the shares' quota value is reduced from SEK 2 to SEK 1 and the company's share capital will amount to SEK 154,994,779.

Other than the reduction of the share capital, Qliro Group's restricted equity will not be affected. The Board is of the opinion that the equity requirements following from the nature, extent and risks of the business of the company, do not motivate a restricted equity of the current size after the sale of the group's subsidiaries in recent years, as well as the fact that the subsidiary QFS has an own share capital of SEK 50,050,000.

Articles of Association

Qliro Group AB (publ), reg. no. 556035-6940

Adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 7 May 2019.

N.B. This is an in-house translation of the authorised Swedish Articles of Association and for convenience only.

§ 1

The Company's name is Qliro Group AB (publ).

§ 2

The board of directors shall have its registered office in Stockholm.

§ 3

The primary purpose of the Company's business shall be to generate profit for its shareholders.

The object of the Company's business shall be to own and manage real property and movables, primarily through investments in businesses within the areas internet, online, e-commerce and retailing primarily with consumer brands and products as well as financing operations, with necessary licenses or authorisations from authorities where relevant. Furthermore, the object of the Company's business shall be to conduct business operations compatible with the above mentioned businesses.

The Company shall have the right to guarantee or otherwise pledge security for obligations assumed by other companies within the group.

§ 4

The Company's share capital shall be not less than SEK 100,000,000 and not more than SEK 400,000,000.

The number of shares in the Company shall be not less than 100,000,000 and not more than 400,000,000.

Shares may be issued in two classes, ordinary shares and Class C shares. Ordinary shares may be issued up to a maximum amount of 400,000,000 and Class C shares up to a maximum amount of 400,000,000.

Class C shares do not entitle to dividends. Upon the Company's liquidation, Class C shares carry an equivalent right to the Company's assets as the other classes of shares, however not to an amount exceeding up to the quota value of the share, annualised as per day of distribution with an interest rate of STIBOR 1M with an additional 1 percentage point calculated from the day of payment of the subscription price. STIBOR 1M is set on the first business day of each calendar month.

Should the Company resolve on an issue of new ordinary and Class C shares, against other payment than contribution in kind, each holder of ordinary and Class C shares has preferential rights to subscribe for new shares of the same class in proportion to the number of old shares held by such holder (primary preferential rights). Shares not subscribed for with primary preferential rights shall be offered for subscription to all shareholders in the Company (subsidiary preferential rights). If the number of shares so offered is less than the number subscribed for with subsidiary preferential rights, the shares shall be distributed among the subscribers in proportion to the number of already shares held, or, to the extent that this is not possible, by lot.

Should the Company resolve on an issue of new shares solely of ordinary shares or Class C shares, against other payment than contribution in kind, all shareholders, irrespective of which class of shares held, are entitled to preferential rights to subscribe for new shares in proportion to the number of shares previously held.

The stipulations regarding preferential rights shall apply mutatis mutandis for new issues of warrants and convertible debt, and shall not infringe on the possibility to resolve on an issue in which the preferential rights of shareholders are waived.

If the share capital is increased by a bonus issue, where new shares are issued, new shares shall be issued in relation to the number of shares of the same classes already held. In such cases, old shares of a specific class shall entitle to new shares of the same class. Following a requisite amendment in the Articles of Association, the aforementioned stipulation shall not infringe on the possibility to issue shares of a new class by a bonus issue.

Reduction of the share capital, however not below the minimum share capital, may on request of holders of Class C shares or as resolved by the Company's Board of Directors or General Meeting, be made by redemption of Class C shares. A request from a shareholder shall be made in writing to the Company's Board of Directors and the Board of Directors shall promptly act on the matter. When a resolution on reduction has been passed, an amount corresponding to the reduction amount shall be transferred to the Company's equity reserves, if the required funds are available.

The redemption payment per Class C share shall correspond to the quota value of the share annualised per day with an interest rate of STIBOR 1M with additional 1 percentage point calculated from the day of payment of the subscription price. STIBOR 1M shall be initially set on the day of payment of the subscription price.

Following notice of the redemption resolution, holders having requested redemption shall promptly receive payment for the share, or, if authorisation from the Swedish Companies Registration Office or a court is required, following notice that the final decision has been registered.

Class C shares held by the Company, may upon decision by the Board of Directors be reclassified into ordinary shares, provided that the Class C shares are held by the Company. Immediately thereafter, the Board of Directors shall report the reclassification to the Swedish Companies Registration Office (Sw. Bolagsverket) for registration. The reclassification is effected when it has been registered and the reclassification been noted in the Swedish Central Securities Depository.

The board shall consist of no less than three and no more than nine directors.

The Company shall as Auditor have no less than one and no more than three registered accounting firms. The Auditors term of office shall last until the end of the first Annual General Meeting which is held after the year the Auditor was appointed.

§6

§7

Notice of a general meeting of shareholders shall be published in the Official Swedish Gazette (Postoch Inrikes Tidningar) as well as on the company's website. At the time of the notice, an announcement with information that the notice has been issued shall be published in Svenska Dagbladet.

§ 8

To be entitled to participate in a general meeting, shareholders must be recorded in a print-out or another presentation of the complete share register relating to the circumstances as of five business days before the meeting, and give notice to the company no later than on the day stipulated in the notice of the meeting. This day may not be a Sunday, another public holiday, a Saturday, Midsummer's Eve, Christmas Eve or New Year's Eve, and may not fall before the fifth business day prior to the meeting.

A shareholder attending a general meeting may be accompanied by an assistant, however only where the shareholder has provided notification hereof in accordance with the foregoing paragraph.

§ 9

The shareholder or nominee who on the record date is registered in the share register and in a central securities depository register pursuant to Chapter 4 of the Central Securities Depositaries and Financial Instruments Accounts Act (1998:1479) or any person who is registered in a central securities depository account pursuant to Chapter 4, Section 18 first paragraph 6-8 of the mentioned Act, shall be deemed to be authorised to exercise the rights set out in Chapter 4, Section 39 of the Companies Act (2005:551).

§ 10

The Company's financial year shall be the calendar year.